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AB 529 ADAPTIVE REUSE WORKING GROUP 
REQUEST FOR INFORMATION TEMPLATE GUIDELINE 

The following guideline is intended to facilitate stakeholder  feedback  to HCD’s Request for   
Information  (RFI)  on adaptive reuse. In order  to ensure feedback can be organized and accurately  
reflected  in  HCD’s  findings,  please  fill  out  a  separate  form  for  each  individual  recommendation  that 
you are proposing. Responses are due by  5:00 pm  PST on December 5,  2024.  

Respondent Information 
Providing the following personal information is voluntary and you may leave these sections blank if 
you would like to remain anonymous. While the name of an organization, entity, or agency may 
become part of the public record and be included with the published responses to this RFI, please 
note that the personal information (name, email contact information) of individuals (i.e., natural 
persons) will not be disclosed or published with the responses and will not become part of the public 
record, except as authorized or required by law. However, you have the option of consenting to HCD 
disclosing and/or publishing your name when posting your response/comment as indicated below. If 
you would like to be added to HCD’s list of interested stakeholders who may be contacted as this 
development process pertaining to the identification of challenges and opportunities for adaptive 
reuse within the scope of AB 529 continues and progresses, please also indicate your preference in 
the section below. 

Name 
Organization/Entity/Agency or 
Affiliation 
Public Email Contact Information 
Add to Contact List ☐ ☐Yes  or  No

☐ (OPTIONAL) I consent to HCD disclosing and/or publishing my name when posting my
response/comment to this RFI.

Please provide Areas of Interest in Adaptive Reuse Report/Development Process: 
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Response 
Assembly Bill 529 includes specific issue areas that the working group may consider. Which of these 
does this specific response fall into? Please select a response from the following Area of Interest: 

1. Energy and Insulation Upgrades

 

 
       

 

               
   

       

               

             

2. Fire-rated Assemblies
3. Water and Sewer Piping

4. Energy infrastructure, including individual utility meter upgrades

5. Habitability

6. Any other local or state building requirement that may render the conversion or reuse of
an existing building financially infeasible for residential uses

What are the opportunities that help support adaptive reuse related to the topic selected above? 

What are the challenges to adaptive reuse related to the topic selected above? 
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Proposal 
If you are proposing - specific amendments to the building standards, or other related health and 
safety standards, please fill out the boxes below. 

Suggested Amendments or Description 

Rationale for Proposal 

Economic Impact of Proposal 

Describe if and how this proposal will impact any of the following: 

Will this proposal impact housing costs? 

Click here to select a response 

If yes: 
Describe the annual cost for each housing unit: 
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Will  this  proposal  impact  businesses  and  /  or  employees?  

CClick here to select a response. 

If yes: 

How many businesses would be impacted? 

Describe the types of businesses impacted. 

What would be the initial and annual ongoing costs to businesses impacted? 

Would this proposal impact small businesses? 

ClicClickk   herheree   toto   sseellecect t   aa   rresesponsponsee.   

If yes: 
How many small businesses would be impacted? 

What would be the initial and annual ongoing costs to businesses? 

AB 529 Adaptive Reuse Working Group 
Request for Information Template Guideline 4 09/2024 



 
       

      

      

  
      

      

        

              

      

     

        

      

            

Will  this  proposal  have  an  impact  on  jobs  or  occupations?  

ClicClickk   herheree   toto   sseellecect t   aa   rresesponsponsee.   

Click here to a respons

Click here to a espons

If yes: 
How many jobs will be created? 

How many jobs will be eliminated? 

Describe the types of jobs or occupations impacted. 

Would this proposal affect the ability of California businesses to compete with other states? 

select eClick here to select a response. 

If yes, please explain briefly. 

Will this proposal have an impact on individuals? 

select rClick here to select a response.e 

If yes, please indicate initial and annual ongoing costs to individuals below. 
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Economic Benefit of Suggested Amendments 

Describe the benefits of the suggested amendments to building standards, including but not limited 
to, the health and welfare of California residents and the environment, the total annual statewide 
benefit in dollars, and any expansion of businesses. 
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	AB 529 ADAPTIVE REUSE WORKING GROUP REQUEST FOR INFORMATION TEMPLATE GUIDELINE
	Respondent Information

	Name: Scott Terrell
	OrganizationEntityAgency or Affiliation: AIA California
	Public Email Contact Information: Scott Terrell <sterrell@aiacalifornia.org>
	OPTIONAL I consent to HCD disclosing andor publishing my name when posting my: On
	Please provide Areas of Interest in Adaptive Reuse Report/Development Process:: General area AIACA interest in Adaptive Reuse Report/Development Process
• Provide information on issues related to the architectural design of adaptive reuse projects
• Gather key feasibility analysis data, approaches, techniques, and analysis that can be shared with our 11,000 design professional members
• Provide subject matter expertise and information regarding health, safety, and welfare issues related to the built environment
• Provide subject matter expertise regarding building assessment, project feasibility analysis, design opportunity, and creative solutions to code challenges
• Offer insight into life safety equivalency analysis, including cost benefit information from the architectural perspective

	What are the opportunities that help support adaptive reuse related to the topic selected above?: Allow for prior legal building occupancies to be used in determining equivalency to R2 in the Risk Tables in Chapter 10 of the California Existing Building Code.
	What are the challenges to adaptive reuse related to the topic selected above?: The Risk Tables in Chapter 10 determine what life safety aspects of a project will have to be reviewed and updated. They are based on the current building occupancy, not on the current building's physical characteristics.  Having a simple means to determine if a set of issues will affect project feasibility early on is important for the success of many commercial to residential conversion projects.
	Suggested Amendments or Description: Add an exception to the Risk Tables that would allow the risk level for commercial to housing conversion to R2 occupancy to be based on either the original use, or any prior legal conforming use; or to building characteristics that at time of construction exceeded minimum code standards to create equivalency with any occupancy in the same risk category as R2.  Many buildings were built to greater-than-minimum standards; or to standards based on a prior occupancy, with occupancy subsequently changing.  These buildings should be permitted to use the same risk assessment that would have been available either due to a previous legal conforming use; or to documented conditions that met or exceeded those conditions required for any occupancy that is in the same risk category as R2 in the table.  
	Rationale for Proposal: Having a simple means to determine if a set of issues will affect project feasibility early on is critically important for the success of many commercial to residential.   This exception would allow a number of paths for consideration of 'equivalent risk to R2' for adaptive reuse and conversion of commercial building to new r2 occupancies.  It would not create any new level of risk outcome, as it is effectively consistent with the present means of determining risk equivalency that is in the CEBC.

California faces a severe housing shortage, and building codes are among those factors which have driven up housing cost leaving many residents struggling. Simultaneously, many urban areas across the state have seen a decline in the utilization of office, retail and other buildings due to shifts in use and work patterns. To address these pressing issues, it is essential to consider the relaxation of certain code requirements to facilitate the transformation of underused office spaces into new housing units. This type of code adjustment is a core principal in the use of different standards for existing building retrofit and reuse embodied in the California Existing Building Code and the International Existing Building Code.  Social benefits associated with these code adjustments are broad, and taken together they outweigh the potential societal costs.  Benefits include but are not limited to: 

1. Alleviating Housing Shortages
o Increased Housing Supply: Converting underused office buildings into residential units can quickly and efficiently increase the housing supply, addressing the urgent need for affordable housing in many California cities.
o Urban Density: By repurposing existing structures, we can create high-density housing solutions in urban cores, reducing the need for new land development and preserving open spaces which have critical social benefits.

2. Climate Action and Sustainability
o Embodied Carbon Emission Reductions: The construction of new buildings contributes significantly to carbon emissions, both through the production of building materials and the construction process itself. By retrofitting existing underused commercial buildings, we can significantly reduce the embodied carbon emissions compared to new builds, which yields major greenhouse gas emission reductions in the most critical near term.
o Energy Efficiency: Retrofit existing buildings are updated where feasible to reduce energy use, with a focus on opaque façade elements and highly efficient new equipment.  

3. Economic Revitalization of Urban Areas
o Economic Stimulus: The construction activity required for these conversions will generate jobs and stimulate local economies, providing a much-needed boost to urban areas that are suffering from economic stagnation.
o Vibrant Communities: Increasing residential populations in urban areas can lead to more vibrant communities, with higher demand supporting diverse local services, retail, and public amenities.  

4. Optimizing Urban Land Use
o Efficient Use of Resources: By making better use of existing infrastructure, cities can avoid the substantial costs and environmental impacts associated with urban sprawl and the development of new lands.
o Adaptive Reuse: This approach fosters adaptive reuse, which is a sustainable method of development that prolongs the lifecycle of buildings and minimizes waste and supports California’s policies and goals.

5. Social and Community Benefits
o Mixed-Use Developments: Converting commercial buildings into mixed-use developments can foster more inclusive communities where people live, work, and socialize, enhancing the quality of urban life and reducing transportation related air pollution.
o Accessibility and Connectivity: Housing conversions in urban centers typically provide better access to public transportation, services, and employment opportunities, promoting a more connected and inclusive society.

In summary, relaxing code requirements to facilitate the conversion of underused commercial buildings into housing not only addresses California's acute housing crisis but also aligns with broader goals of sustainability, climate stabilization, economic revitalization, and efficient urban land use. This multifaceted approach can help create resilient, vibrant, and inclusive communities for current and future generations while still maintaining appropriate provisions for health safety and welfare as per the standards associated with the ongoing use of existing buildings, including California Health and Safety Code Division 13, part 1.5. Regulation of buildings used for human habitation.

	Describe the annual cost for each housing unit:: These proposed changes would reduce the cost of converting existing commercial occupancy buildings to R-2 housing. Few, if any, existing buildings that are repurposed via adaptive reuse can be cost-effectively made fully compliant with the codes for new construction.  
	What would be the initial and annual ongoing costs to businesses?: Increased opportunities for housing conversion work will benefit dozens to hundreds of small housing developers, design professionals, contractors, and subcontractors.
Permitting costs and timelines will be reduced for projects that use performance-based design standards rather than prescriptive standards.

Construction costs will be reduced for projects which are able to reuse and retrofit more existing infrastructure.  
Property owners will have increased rental income from buildings which are able to serve needs such as housing where current configuration has little need or market demand.  
Cost of maintaining empty buildings will be reduced when occupants play a normal and routine role in monitoring conditions, reporting negative conditions or activity.

	How many small businesses would be impacted?: Hundreds to thousands statewide
	How many businesses would be impacted?: The proposed changes could benefit hundreds or thousands of businesses positively  throughout the state. They will also facilitate the revitalization of urban areas, which will benefit from the increased economic activity that will come from new residences.
	Describe the types of businesses impacted: Existing services, restaurants, retail, and all other pedestrian-facing businesses will all benefit from new occupants nearby.  New occupants also tend to increase public safety due to the more significant presence of people, increased vigilance, and the reporting of adverse conditions or activity in real-time by passersby and residents.  
	What would be the initial and annual ongoing costs to businesses impacted?: Lowered costs of renovation based on tailored performance criteria for existing buildings versus over-application of code requirements that are tailored to new building construction.
The ongoing presence of additional residents will bring increased economic activity, which will, in turn, create greater civic revenue, which will support existing businesses, and reduce the cost burdens that are associated with empty spaces devoid of normal, sustainable, and productive pedestrian activity.

	Describe the benefits of the suggested amendments to building standards,: Economic impact would be positive for increasing project feasibility.  Due to the limited number of adaptive reuse projects, it is not expected that any adjustment to the energy code would have any significant impact on business, jobs or industry in California.

The projects supported by these changes would create many local, high-paying jobs during the buildout process.  

After new residential projects are completed, there will be increased services in the urban area that will benefit a broad range of individuals, not just the new residents, due to the increase in populations to be served. This would better support business vitality and opportunities for business improvement and expansion. Morale would improve in unconverted office buildings as fuller spaces would feel more vital and function more as intended. Supportive services will be maintained and increased to meet the needs of a denser population.  Civic revenues would be more likely to grow and sustain due to increased population, which would, in turn, support higher levels of civic space maintenance and investment for the economic and social benefit of the entire community.   Businesses that are part of the core infrastructure needed to support residential uses, such as grocery stores, retail, and food, will be better supported and have opportunities for growth and expansion, which in turn would lead to more jobs. 


	If yes, please indicate initial and annual ongoing costs to individuals below: Residents of the conversion projects would have a better life/work balance, as they would be able to live in an urban area richer in services, entertainment venues, and other resident amenities. Those who work in offices would likely live closer to their workplace, as unconverted buildings would become more viable due to decreased oversupply.   
	If yes, please explain briefly: This proposal would increase the density of residents in urban areas where converted buildings were located, increasing California businesses' ability to compete with other states. Due to convenience, speed, and proximity, local California retail/sales businesses near residents would compete more successfully with online and other remote service businesses. Businesses such as restaurants, lounges, and local entertainment would directly benefit from the increased number of nearby customers.
Increased local jobs and services will decrease commuting costs and pollution since residents can live near office jobs. Owners of nearby commercial buildings such as offices could see increased income as conversions reduce office oversupply. Overall, there would be an increase in the economic and social vitality of urban areas due to the population increase, more services for residents, and more pedestrian activity for existing small businesses, all of which would increase the ability of California businesses to compete with other states.  

	Describe the types of jobs or occupations impacted: Jobs would increase for construction, delivery, material handling, clean-up of job sites, and design professionals. Jobs for tenant-facing businesses, such as service, restaurant, and retail jobs, would increase when the number of customers for those businesses increases.  
	How many jobs will be eliminated?: None
	How many jobs will be created?: Hundreds to thousands of jobs can be created via Increased work for contractors, subcontractors, vendors and suppliers, design professionals, and many others associated with building processes.  Adaptive reuse projects located in urban areas will maintain job opportunities in those urban areas.  
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